
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLO RIDA

Case No.
18 U.S.C. j 1956(h)
18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(2)(A)
18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(A)
18 U.S.C. j 1957
18 U.S.C. j 2
18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(1)

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

NATALINO D'AM ATO,

Defendant.

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At all tim es relevant to this lndictment, unless otherwise specitied:

RELEVANT INDIVIDUALS AND ENTITIES

Petröleos de Venezuela, S.A. (ûLPDVSA-), was the state-owned and state-controlled

oil company of Venezuela. PDVSA and its subsidiaries and atliliates were responsible for the

exploration, production, refining, transportation, and trade in energy resources in Venezuela and

provided funding for other operations of the Venezuelan government.

PDVSA entered into joint ventures with foreign oil eompanies in the oil-rich

Orinoco belt in Venezuela to leverage the expertise of the foreign oi1 companies (collectively, the

ûLPDVSA Subsidiaries''). PDVSA maintained a majority stake in, and controlled, the PDVSA

Subsidiaries, and that control extended to the procurem ent process. The PDVSA Subsidiaries
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included the following entities:

a. Petrocedeio S.A. (Cûpetrocedefio'') was a joint venture between two European

oi1 companies and PDVSA .

Petropiar S.A. (Cçpetropiar'') was ajoint venture between an oil company in the

United States and PDVSA.

Pdromonagas S.A. (ûspetromonagas'') was a joint venture between a Russian

oil company and PDVSA .

d. Petrolera Sinovensa S.A. (ûosinovensa'') was ajoint venture between a Chinese

oi1 company and PDVSA .

Petromiranda S.A. (stpetromiranda'') was ajoint venture between five Russian

oil companies that m ake up a consortium and PDVSA.

NATALINO D'AM ATO resided in Venezuela and traveled to the United States

often from 2014 to 2017. D 'Aznato maintained personal and investm ent bank accounts at multiple

banks in the Southez'n District of Florida.

NATALINO D 'AM ATO owned or controlled various Venezuelan companies that

sold goods and services to the PDVSA Subsidiaries. Those com panies were the following:

Venezolana de Mecanizado C.A. (ç$Vemeca''); Alpha Energy de Venezuela C.A. (çûAlpha'')'>

lndustria Techno Parts C.A. (û;1TP'')' and lndustria Nacional de Goma C.A. (û1lNG'') (collectively,7

the ttlll'Amato Companies'').The D'Amato Companies each had one or more ballk accounts at

Mercantil Commercebank (ûûMercantil'') in the Southern District of Florida.

NATALINO D 'AM ATO owned and controlled a Nevis-based corporation called

Kzonos Enterprises Corp. (çûloronos''). D'Amato maintained accounts for Kronos at Mercantil and

W ells Fargo Bank in the Southel'n District of Florida.
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Venezuelan Official 1 was a senior procurement official at Petrocedeio between in

or around M arch 2015 and in Or around Decem ber 201 7.

Venezuelan Official 2 was a senior procurement official at Petropiar between in or

around January 2016 and in or around December 20l 7.

8. Venezuelan Official 3 was a procurement official at Petrocedeho between in or

around 2014 and in or around 2017.

Venezuelan Official 4 was a procurement official at Petropiar between in Or around

2016 and in or around 2017.

Venezuelan Official 5 was a procurem ent official at Petrocedego between in or

around 201 1 and in or around 2018.

Co-conspirator 1 was involved in the business of the D'Am ato Com panies and a

signer on certain of the bank accounts of the D'Am ato Com panies.

COUNT 1
Conspiracy to Com m it M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(h))

Paragraphs l through 1 1 of the General Allegations Section are re-alleged and

incop orated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

From in or around January 20 13, until at least Decem ber 20 1 7, in the Southern

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

NATALINO D'AM ATO,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to ttlrther the object of the conspiracy, and knowingly combine,

conspire, confederate and agree with persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury to comm it

offenses under Title l 8, United States Code, Section 1956 and l 957, as follows:
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to knowingly transport, transm it, and transfer, and attempt to transport, transmit,

and transfer a m onetary instrument and funds from a place in the United States to and thzough a

place outside the United States, and to a place in the United States from and through a place outside

the United States, with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section l 956(a)(2)(A),'

to klzowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a tinancial transaction which involves

the proceeds of specitied unlawful activity, knowing that the property involved in the financial

transaction represented the proceeds of som e form of unlawful activity, and with the intent to

promote the can-ying on of specitied unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1956(a)(1)(A); and

to knowingly engage in a m onetary transaction by, through, or to a financial

institution, affecting interstate com merce in crim inally derived propel'ty of a value greater than

$10,000 that is derived from specified unlawful activity, in violation of Title 1 8, United States

Code, Section 1957.

It is fkrther alleged that the specified unlawful activity is an oftknse against a tbreign

nation, specitically Veneztlela, involving bribery of a public official, and the misappropriation,

theft, and embezzlem ent of public funds by and for the benef-it ofa public official, as provided by

PURPOSE OF TH E CON SPIRACY

lt was the purpose of the conspiracy for NATALINO D 'AM ATO and his co-

conspirators, including, among others, Venezuelan Officials l , 2, 3, 4 and 5 (together, the

c'Venezuelan Ofticials''), to unlawfully enrich themselves by making and concealing bribery

payments from D 'AM ATO to the Venezuelalz Otxcials from accounts in the United States in

4
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exchange for actions, intluence, and advantages by the Venezuelan Officials to ensure, promote,

or otherwise facilitate the award or paym ent of procurem ent contracts from the PDVSA

Subsidiaries to the D'Amato Companies.

M ANNER AND M EANS OF TH E CONSPIR ACY

The m anner and means by which NATALINO D'AM ATO and his co-conspirators sought

to accomplish the purpose of the conspiracy included, among other things, the following conduct

in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere:

NATALINO D 'AM ATO offered things ofvalue constituting bribes to Venezuelan

ofticials working at the PDVSA Subsidiaries, including Venezuelan Officials 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, in

exchange for the officials' assistance in awarding lucrative and inflated procurem ents contracts

with the PDVSA Subsidiaries to the D 'Amato Companies.

NATALINO D'AM ATO received e-m ails from Venezuelan ofticials at the

PDVSA Subsidiaries with internal procurem ent intbrmation related to the PDVSA Subsidiaries.

Venezuelan Official 1 provided NATALINO D'AM ATO with advanced notice of

contract solicitations at Petrocedeho, coordinated with other Venezuelan officials to ensure that

contract bids by the D'Amato Companies were accepted by Petrocedefio, and ensured that paym ent

was expedited to the D'Amato Com panies.

Venezuelan Official 2 provided NATALINO D'AM ATO with assistance in the

award and paym ent of Petropiar contracts to the D'Amato Companies.

Venezuelan Oftscial 3 provided NATALINO D'AM ATO with assistance in the

award and paym ent of Petrocedeho contracts to the D 'Am ato Companies.

Veneztlelan Offscial 4 provided N ATALINO D'AM ATO with assistance in the

award and payment of Petropiar contracts to the D'Am ato Com panies.
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10. Venezuelan Official 5 provided NATALINO D'AM ATO with assistance in the

award and paym ent of Petrocedeio contracts to the D 'Amato Companies.

Between in or around 2013 and in or around 2017, NATALINO D'AM ATO and

others caused wire transfers totaling more than $1 60 million to be made from bank accounts of the

PDVSA Subsidiaries to M ercantil accounts of the D 'Amato Companies located in the Southern

District of Florida, including'.

the transfer of approximately $99.8 million from Petrocedeho;

b. the transfer of approximately $34.4 million from Petropiar;

the transfer of approximately $1 5.5 million from Petromonagas',

d. the transfer of approximately $1 1.3 million from Sinovensa; and

the transfer of approximately $ 1 .0 million from Petromiranda.

NATALINO D'AM ATO and Co-conspirator l received e-m ails from Venezuelan

officials at the PDVSA Subsidiaries, using personal e-m ail accounts, with wire transfer

instructions for accounts in which the oft-icials could receive bribe paym ents.

ln or around M ay 2015, NATALINO D'AM ATO offered to pay Venezuelan

Ofticial 1 approximately $1 million in bribes in exchange for Venezuelan Official 1 's assistance

in awarding Petrocedeho contracts to the D'Am ato Companies and affording D'AM ATO other

business advantages.

From in or around July 201 5, through in or around December 2016, NATALINO

D'AM ATO caused over $2 million dollars in bribes to be wire transferred for the benet'it of

Venezuelan Official 1 from accounts of the D 'Amato Companies at M ercantil Bank in the

Southel'n District of Florida to a corporate account in Panama in the name of a relative of

Venezuelan Ofticial 1 .
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On or about April 19, 2017,NATALINO D'AM ATO caused a wire transfer

constituting a bribe in the amount of approximately $30,000 to be made for the benetit of

Venezuelan Ofticial 2 from a personal account of D'AM ATO at M ercantil Bank in the Southern

District of Florida to an account in the name of a relative ofvenezuelan Official 2.

l6. From in or around November 2014 through in or around Decem ber 2017,

NATALINO D'AM ATO caused wire transfers of more than $800,000 constituting bribes to be

made for the benefit of Venezuelan Ofticial

M ercantil Bank in the Southern District of Florida to a corporate account controlled by Venezuelan

Official 3.

from accounts of the D 'Am ato Companies at

From in or around April 2015 through in or around December 2016, NATALINO

D'AM ATO caused wire transtkrs of more than $ l 60,000 constituting bribes to be made for the

benefit of Venezuelan Official 4 from accotlnts of the D'Am ato Companies at M ercantil Bank in

the

Venezuelan Ofticial 4.

1 8. From in or around August 2017 through in or around October 2017, NATALINO

and corporate accounts controlled by

D'AM ATO caused wire transfers constituting bribes of more than $170,000 to be made for the

benefit of Venezuelan Official 5 from accounts of the D'Am ato Companies at M ercantil Bank in

the Southern District of Florida to a corporate account controlled by Venezuelan Official 5.

CO UNTS 2-5
lnternational Laundering of M onetary Instrum ents

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(2)(A))

Paragraphs 1 through l 1 of the General Allegations Section and paragraphs 4

throtlgh l 8 of Count l are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.
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On or about the dates set forth in each Count below, in the Southel'n District of

Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

NATALINO D 'AM ATO,

knowingly transported, transmitted, and transt-erred, and aided and abettedn and caused, the

transport, transm ission, and transfer of, and attempted to transport, transmit, and transfer, a

monetary instrum ent and funds from a place in the United States to and through a place outside

the United States and to a place in the United States from and through a place outside the United

States, with the intent to prom ote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, that is, an offense

against a fbreign nation,specitically Venezuela, involving bribery of a public official, and the

m isappropriation, theft, and em bezzlem entof public funds by and for the benefit of a public

ofticial, pursuant to Title 1 8, United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv):

Count Approxim ate Date Description of Transaction

2 December 9, 2016 W ire transfer in the am ount of approxim ately
$1 ,034,576.70 from a Mercantil Bank account of ITP in
the Southern District of Florida to an account at Banesco
Bank in Panam a for the benefit of Venezuelan Ofticial 1.

3 April 19, 2017 W ire transfer in the amount of approximately $30,000
from a M ercantil Bank account of D'Amato in the
Southern District of Florida, to a personal account in Spain
for the benefit of Venezuelan Offïcial 2.

4 M ay l , 20l 7 W ire transtkr in the am ount of approximately
$3,434,345.49 from an account of Petrocedeho in Portugal
to a M ercantil Bank account of 1TP in the Southern
District of Florida.

5 June 15, 201 7 W ire transfer in the amount of approximately
$2,908,943.49 from an account of Petrocedeho in Portugal
to a M ercantil Bank account of 1TP in the Southern
District ofl7lorida.

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code- Sections 1 956(a)(2)(A) and 2.

8
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COUNTS 6-8
M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(A))

Paragraphs l through 1 1 of the GeneralAllegations Section and paragraphs 4

through 1 8 t)f Count 1 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

On or about the dates set forth in each Count below, in the Southel'n District of

Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

NATALINO D'AM ATO,

knowing that the property involved represented the proceeds of som e form of unlawful activity,

conducted, and aided and abetted, and caused to be conducted, and attempted to conduct, a

financial transaction involving the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, with the intent to

promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, that is an offense against a foreign nation,

specifically Venezuela, involving bribery of a public ofticial, and the misappropriation, theft, and

em bezzlement of public funds by and for the benefst of a public official, pursuant to Title l 8,

Count Approxim ate Date Description of Transaction

6 June l , 20l 6 W ire transfer in the amount of approximately $151 ,506.22
from a M ercantil Bank account of Vemeca in the Southern
District of Florida to an account at BB& T Bank for the
benefit of Venezuelan Official 3.

December 22, 2016 W ire transfer in the amount of approximately $105,958.16
from a M ercantil Bank account of lTP in the Southern
District of Florida to an account at Banesco Bank tbr the
benefit of Venezuelan Ofticial 4.

October 24, 20l 7 W ire transfer in the amount of approximately $130,000
from a M ercantil Bank account of Vem eca in the Southern
District of Florida to an account at Bank of Am erica for
the benefit ofvenezuelan Ofticial 5.

9
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COUNTS 9-11
Engaging in Transactions in Crim inally Derived Property

(18 U.S.C. j 1957)

Paragraphs 1 through of the General Allegations Section and paragraphs 4

through 18 of Count 1 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though f'ully set forth herein.

On or about the dates set fol'th in each Count below, in the Southem  District of

Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

NATALINO D'AM ATO ,

did knowingly engage in, and aid, abet, and cause others to engage in, and attem pt to engage in, a

monetary transaction affecting interstate commerce, by, though, and to a financial institution, in

criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, such proper'ty having been derived

from a specitied unlawful activity, and knowing that the property involved in the financial

transactions represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, that is an offense against

foreign nation, specifically Venezuela, involving bribery of a public official, and the

m isappropriation, thefl, and embezzlem ent of public funds by and for the benefit of a public

ofticial, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv):

Count Approxim ate Date Description of Transaction

9 December 9, 2016 W ire transfer in the amount of approximately $5,000,000
from a M ercantil Bank account of Vemeca in the Southern
District of Florida to a W ells Fargo account ofloronos.

10 M ay 16, 2017 Transfer of funds relating to the ptuvhase of Goldman
Sachs Group bonds for $301,623.6 1 f'rom an investment
account of Kronos in the Southern District of Florida.

1 1 July 17, 2017 W ire transfer in the amount of approximately $3,000,000
from a M ercantil Bank account of ITP in the Southern
District of Florida to an account of N atalino D 'Am ato at
Titleist Asset M anagement.

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2.
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FO RFEITURE
(18 U.S.C. j982(a)(1))

The allegations of this lndictment are re-alleged and by this reference fully

incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of America of certain

property in which the defendant, NATALINO D'AM ATO , has an interest.

1 957, as alleged this lndictm ent, the defendant,NATALINO D 'AM ATO , shall forfeit to the

United States any property, real or personal, involved in such offense, or any propel'ty traceable to

such property, pursuant to Title l 8, United States Code, Sedion 982(a)(1).

The propel'ty subject to forfeiture as a result ofthe alleged offenses includes, but is

not limited to, the following:

approximately $ 14,691,851 .79 seized from W ells Fargo Advisors account number
4850-9732 in the name of Kronos Enterprises Corp.;

approximately $9,854,646.8 l seized from W ells Fargo Advisors account number
3700-8508 in the name of Kronos Enterprises Corp.;

(iii) approximately $7,791,854.82 seized from Wells Fargo Advisors account number
7103-8027 in the name of L.J.D.;

approximately $6,968,670.01 seized from W ells Fargo Advisors account number
8950-0365 in the name of Kronos Enterprises Corp.',

approximately $5,897,975.66 seized from Tigress Financial Partners account
number P82-004055 in the nam e of NATALINO D'AM ATO and L.J.D.',

approximately $746,950.98 seized from Bank of America account number
898095788895 in the name of I..J.D.; and

(vii) approximately $34,280.03 seized from Bank of America account number
898071640481 in the name of NATALINO D 'AM ATO .

lf any of the property described above as being subject to forfeiture, as a result of

any act or om ission of the defendant:
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cannot be loeated upon the exercise of due diligence',

has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party',

has been plaeed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

b.

d. has been substantially dim inished in value; or

has been comm ingled with other property that cannot be divided without

difticulty;

the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property, under the provisions of

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Seetion 982(a)(1), and the proeedures set fol'th

in Title 2l, United States Code, Section 853, as incorporated by Title

982(b)(1).

18, United States Code,

A TRUE BILL

( AR A A JAR O O AN
. TED S ATES ATTORNEY

s DANIEL S. KAHNr
ACTING CHIEF, FRAUD SECTION
CRIM INAL DIVISION

# .
>x' Alexander Kram er

'l'1'ial Attorney

Z .

M ichael N . Berger
Assistant United States Attolmey
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRIG  OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS .

NATALINO D'AMATO

Defendant.

CASE NO.

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL AU O RNEY*

Superseding Case Information:

New Defendantts)
Number of New Defendants
Total number of counts

Court Division: (select One)

X M ia mi
FTL

Key W est
W  P B

I do hereby certify that:

I have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of
probable witnesses and the legal complexities of the Indictment/lnformation attached hereto.

I am aware that the information supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Court in
setting their calendars and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act, Title 28 U.S.C.
Section 3161.

Interpreter: (Yes or No)
List Ianguage and/or dialect

This case will take 6-7 days for the parties to try.

Please check appropriate category and type of offense Iisted below:

(Check only one) (Check only one)

Yes
Spanish

l
I I
I I
IV
V '

6. Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
lf yes:
Judge: case No.

(Attach copy of dispositive order)
Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) Yes
If yes:
Magistrate Case No.
Related Miscellaneous numbers:
Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in state custody as of
Rule 20 from the District o

ls this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) No

O to 5 days
6 to 10 days
11 to 20 days
21 to 60 days
61 days and over

X
Petty
M i n o r
Misdem.
Felony X

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior to
October 14, 2003? Yes X No

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior to
September 1, 2007? Yes X No

*penalty Sheetls) attached

< %
M ICHAEL N. BERGER
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
Court ID No. 5501557

REV 4/8/08
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iUNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT O F FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: NATALINO D'AM ATO

Case No:

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Comm it M oney Launderin:

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h)

* Max.penalty: Twenty (20) Years' lmprisonment

Counts #: 2-5

lntelmational Launderina of M onetary lnstrum ents

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(A)

* M ax.penalty: Twenty (20) Years' lmprisonment

Counts #: 6-8

* Max.penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment

Counts #: 9-1 1

Encacin: in Transactions in Crim inallv Derived Property .

* Max.penalty: Ten (10) Years' lmprisonment

*ltefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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